
  

 
 

 

Nottingham City Council 

Companies Governance Executive Committee 

 
Date: Tuesday, 20 September 2022 
 
Time:  3.00 pm (or at the rising of Executive Board, whichever is the later) 
 
Place: Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, 

NG2 3NG 
 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 
 

 
Director for Legal and Governance 
 
Governance Officer: Phil Wye     Direct Dial: 0115 876 4637 
 
 
Agenda 

 
 Pages 

1  Apologies for absence  
 

 

2  Declarations of interest  
 

 

3  Minutes  
To confirm the minutes of the last meeting held on 19th July 2022 
 

3 - 6 

4  Work Programme  
 

7 - 8 

5  Companies Governance Handbook - Constitution Framework 
Document  
Report of the Corporate Director for Finance and Resources 
 

9 - 44 

6  Council owned company discussion - Nottingham City Homes  
 

45 - 54 

7  Exclusion of the public  
To consider excluding the public from the meeting during consideration 
of the remaining items in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the basis that, having regard to all the 
circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information 

 

Public Document Pack



 
8  Council owned company discussion - Nottingham City Homes  

 
55 - 62 

9  Council owned companies - financial update  
 

63 - 90 

10  Company Review  
 

91 - 102 

All items listed ‘under exclusion of the public’ will be heard in private. They have been 
included on the agenda as no representations against hearing the items in private were 
received 

 

If you need any advice on declaring an interest in any item on the agenda, please contact 
the Governance Officer shown above, if possible before the day of the meeting  
 

Citizens attending meetings are asked to arrive at least 15 minutes before the start of the 
meeting to be issued with visitor badges 

 

Citizens are advised that this meeting may be recorded by members of the public. Any 
recording or reporting on this meeting should take place in accordance with the Council’s 
policy on recording and reporting on public meetings, which is available at 
www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk. Individuals intending to record the meeting are asked to notify 
the Governance Officer shown above in advance. 

 

http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/


1 

Nottingham City Council  
 

Companies Governance Executive Committee 
 
Minutes of the meeting held at Loxley House, Nottingham on 19 July 2022 from 
3.00 pm - 5.02 pm 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor David Mellen (Chair) 
Councillor Adele Williams (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Neghat Khan 
Councillor Audra Wynter 
Councillor Linda Woodings 
 

 
 

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
 
Ian Edward - Strategic Advisor for Companies 
Martin Ingham - National Ice Centre 
Marie Marshall - National Ice Centre 
Hugh White - Director of Sports and Culture 

Phil Wye - Governance Officer 
 
 
18  Apologies for absence 

 
Clive Heaphy 
 
19  Declarations of interest 

 
In the interests of transparency, Councillor Neghat Khan declared that she sits on the 
Board of Futures, and Councillor David Mellen stated that he is a director of 
Blueprint. 
 
20  Minutes 

 
The Committee confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 21st June 2022 as a 
correct record and they were signed by the Chair. 
 
21  Work Programme 

 
The Work Programme was noted. A company to attend the next meeting is yet to be 
confirmed. 
 
22  Council owned company discussion - National Ice Centre (NIC) 

 
The Committee received a presentation Martin Ingham, Chief Executive, National Ice 
Centre (NIC), which highlighted the following: 
 
(a) the NIC was closed in March 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic and a survival 

plan was put in place. Covid related losses for the period of closure total £6.610m. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Companies Governance Executive Committee - 19.07.22 

2 

This was partially mitigated by Cultural Recovery Grant funding of £1.5m; 
 

(a) in the 2021-22 financial year, the Centre reopened, resulting in a surplus and a 
total profit of £0.242m. The revival period has brought challenges with staff 
recruitment, a maintenance backlog, marketing and supply chain issues; 
 

(b) February and March 2022 were the busiest ever for the arena, with multiple sell-
out shows, and the arena was the 47th busiest Arena in world from Nov 2021–
May 2022 according to Pollstar. Record figures for public skating were also 
achieved; 
 

(c) other achievements during this period include relocation of the Box Office, 
installation of a new Ice Sports system, bringing Stewarding services in-house, 
extension of the Motorpoint sponsorship, and the opening of various new bars 
and hospitality suites; 
 

(d) in the 2022-23 financial year, April and May were the busiest ever in the arena. 42 
capital and major maintenance projects are currently underway. Stronger 
relationships have been established with existing promoters and the LIVE Group 
created; 
 

(e) risks related to the cost of living increases are the rising price of event tickets and 
the relative expense of ice sports. Inflation has risks around staffing costs, utilities, 
insurance and supplies. There is still also a risk of Covid restrictions for events; 
 

(f) there is a significant backlog of maintenance, repairs and capital projects. Lead 
times and product availability can be challenging as is merchandise import export 
from Northern Ireland. Some staff posts remain difficult to fill, particularly technical 
crew and cleaners; 
 

(g) Nottingham Panthers have a new team, coach and CEO, providing impetus for a 
closer relationship. Ways of increasing match attendance are being explored such 
as earlier start times for families at Sunday matches; 
 

(h) the Centre’s 25 year anniversary is coming up, which could provide a great PR 
opportunity for marquee and community events. It is estimated that by this date 
£1bn will have been generated by the venue for the city of Nottingham.  

 
During discussion and in response to questions from the Committee, the following 
points were raised: 
 
(i) the Centre has links with many schools across the city as skating can be a great 

way to gain self-confidence. Nottingham Panthers also have their own 
engagement programme; 
 

(j) some casual support staff have been kept on over the summer, giving them 
different tasks so that they can learn new skills; 
 

(k) all of the arenas across the country talk to each other as well as promotors to gain 
an early sense of any risks to events; 
 

Page 4



Companies Governance Executive Committee - 19.07.22 

3 

(m)ideas would be welcomed for events for the 25 year anniversary. This could be a 
headline act, establishment of a festival, or an exhibition; 
 

(n) most attendees park at the Stoney Street car park, but are actively encouraged to 
use alternatives at Broadmarsh or Fletcher Gate as it becomes very busy; 
 

(o) the Nottingham Education Trust could potentially offer funding to widen young 
people’s participation in ice sports, the cost of which can be challenging for 
families; 
 

(p) the Centre has a sustainability plan and tries to use local suppliers wherever 
possible for both food and beverage, and equipment purchases. 

 
23  Exclusion of the public 

 
The Board resolved to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of 
the remaining items in accordance with Section 100A of the Local Government Act 
1972, under Schedule 12A, Part 1, Paragraph 3, on the basis that, having regard to 
all the circumstances, the public interest in maintaining an exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
24  Exempt Minutes 

 
The Committee confirmed the minutes of the meetings held on 24th May 2022 and 
21st June 2022 as correct records and they were signed by the Chair. 
 
25  Council owned company discussion - National Ice Centre (NIC) 

 
This item does not contain any decisions that are eligible for call-in. 
 
The Committee received a presentation by Martin Ingham, Chief Executive, National 
Ice Centre. 
 
26  Council owned companies - financial update 

 
This item does not contain any decisions that are eligible for call-in. 
 
 Ian Edward, Strategic Advisor for Companies, presented the report, updating the 
Committee on the latest position in respect of Council owned companies. 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
2022 
 

  20 September 18 October 22 November 20 December 

 
P 
U 
B 
L 
I 
C 
 

 
Company presentation – Nottingham City 
Homes 

 
No Public discussion 

 
Company presentation –  
Scape 

 
No Public discussion 

 
 
 
 

E 
X 
E 
M 
P 
T 
 
 

 
Company presentation – Nottingham City 
Homes 

 
Companies Annual review 2021/22 

 
Company presentation –  
Scape 

 
Companies’ progress update  

 
Companies’ financial update 

 
Companies’ Annual financial update 
2021/22 
 

 
Companies’ financial update 

 
Companies’ financial update 

As required: 

 
Significant change in existing company plans 

 

 
Approval of new company business case / formation/ Governance Proposals 

 

 
2022/3 
 

  17 January 21 February 21 March 

 
P 
U 
B 
L 
I 
C 
 

 
Company presentation – to be confirmed 

 
Company presentation – to be 
confirmed 

 
No public discussion 

 
 
 
 

E 
X 
E 
M 
P 
T 
 
 

 
Companies’ progress update  

 
Companies’ progress update  

 
Companies’ progress update 

 
Companies’ financial update 

 
Companies’ financial update 

 
Companies’ financial update 

As required: 

 
Significant change in existing company plans 

 

 
Approval of new company business case / formation/ Governance Proposals 

 

 
 
 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Companies Governance Executive Committee – 20th September 2022 
  

Subject: Companies Governance Handbook – Constitution Framework 
Document            
 

Corporate Director(s)/ 
Director(s): 

Clive Heaphy – Corporate Director Finance and Resources       

Portfolio Holder(s): Cllr Adele Williams – Portfolio Holder for Finance  

Report author and 
contact details: 

Ian Edward – Strategic Advisor on Companies 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

Nancy Barnard – Governance and Electoral Services Manager 
Clive Heaphy - Corporate Director Finance and Resources 
John Slater - Group Assurance & Audit Governance Manager 

Key Decision               Yes        No Subject to call-in      Yes           No 

Reasons:  Expenditure  Income  Savings of £1,000,000 or 
more taking account of the overall impact of the decision 

 Revenue   Capital  

Significant impact on communities living or working in two or more 
wards in the City  

 Yes      No  

Total value of the decision: Nil value 

Wards affected:  Date of consultation with Portfolio 
Holder(s): 1st September 2022 

Relevant Council Plan Key Theme:   

Clean and Connected Communities  

Keeping Nottingham Working  

Carbon Neutral by 2028  

Safer Nottingham  

Child-Friendly Nottingham  

Healthy and Inclusive  

Keeping Nottingham Moving  

Improve the City Centre  

Better Housing  

Financial Stability  

Serving People Well  

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):  
The Council has collated best practice guidance and applied this to create a handbook for those 
involved in the management and oversight of Council Owned Entities and commercial interests. 
The handbook sets out the standards and principles the Council will apply in respect of its 
Companies and commercial interests as a Governance Framework Document. 
 
 
 
 
 

Exempt information: 
None 

Recommendation(s):  

1 To approve the attached Companies Governance Handbook as a Governance Framework 
Document, a supporting document to the Council’s Constitution. 

      

 
Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 
 
1 Reasons for recommendations  
 
1.1 To further the progress of the companies’ theme of the Together for 

Nottingham Plan, the Council has consolidated the relevant areas of best 
practice for the management and oversight of its companies and commercial 
interests in a single governance framework document. Endorsement of the 
document will enable the Shareholder Unit of the Council to apply and monitor 
the achievement by the Council and its companies of a clear set required 
standards.   

 
 

2 Background (including outcomes of consultation) 
 
2.1 The management and oversight of companies and commercial interests is 

informed by numerous external standards and council governance policies. The 
application of these standards and policies will be managed and monitored by a 
Shareholder Unit. To assist in the implementation of this an accessible and 
codified guidance document (handbook) is considered to be an essential resource.   

 
3 Other options considered in making recommendations 
 
3.1 To not adopt the Companies Governance Handbook as a Governance Framework 

Document - the Handbook is considered an essential resource for the Shareholder 
Unit. 

 
4 Finance colleague comments (including implications and value for 

money/VAT) 
 
4.1 N/A 
 
5 Legal and Procurement colleague comments (including risk management 

issues, and including legal, Crime and Disorder Act and procurement 
implications) 

 
5.1 There is no legal requirement for the Council to adopt a Companies Handbook. 

However, it is important that those involved in Council companies are well informed 
about their roles and the procedures relating to those companies. The principles 
and practices set out in the handbook support the good governance of the 
Council's companies and are therefore supported. The handbook will need to be 
kept under regular review to ensure that it reflects, the current law as well as best 
practice and procedure 

 
 Malcolm Townroe, Head of Legal and Governance – 12/09/22 
 
6 Social value considerations 

 
6.1 N/A 
 
7 Regard to the NHS Constitution 
 
7.1 N/A 
 
8 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

Page 10



 
8.1 Has the equality impact of the proposals in this report been assessed? 
 
 No         
 An EIA is not required because this is not a new service or function 
 
 Yes         
  

 
9 List of background papers relied upon in writing this report (not including 

published documents or confidential or exempt information) 
 
9.1 None 
 
10 Published documents referred to in this report 
 
10.1 Nottingham City Council’s Constitution 
 
 The Together for Nottingham Plan 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

NCC Companies Governance Handbook 
 

Introduction 

This handbook is owned by the Commercial Director who is responsible for keeping it up 

to date, relevant and accessible and for arranging relevant training for those involved in 

working with our companies. 

The purpose of this handbook is to act as a practical guide for NCC members and 

officers, and staff and board members of entities in which the council have an interest, 

in their dealings with each other and with the important business that is conducted by 

them. An interest, for the purposes of the scope of this handbook, applies to any of the 

following: 

­ entities in which the council has a shareholding 

­ entities to which the council can appoint a director 

­ companies limited by guarantee where the council is a member  

The governance, structure and processes take account of the latest thinking in local 

government and in particular, the lawyers in Local Government code of practice, The 

Governance of Council Interests in Companies, and CIPFA’s guidance document 

produced for the Council. The principle of “comply or explain” is expected in relation to 

following the requirements of this handbook. That is to say, compliance with the 

requirements contained here is mandated, unless there is a good, well-argued and 

documented reason for adopting a different approach, agreed with the Council’s S151 

Officer and Monitoring Officer. Constitutional and legal requirements must still be 

followed, however. 

At its heart, this governance model is concerned with demonstrating the transparency 

and accountability that is essential for all parties to have confidence in each other and to 

make the best decisions in the interests of all. 

  

Page 13



2 
 

Contents 

Governance Structure         3 

Glossary           4 

Operating relationship between Nottingham City Council and Council Owned Entities 

(COEs)           6 

Governance documents         7 

Governance roles          9 

Major governance policies        15 

Major governance processes        20 

Appendix One, Guidance Documents       24 

 

  

Page 14



3 
 

 

 

Governance Structure 

The Council’s Constitution 

The Constitution governs how the Council works and always takes precedence. In particular, 

it sets out the roles, powers and limits if delegation of the Executive and key committees 

including Companies Governance, Overview & Scrutiny and Audit committees. The 

Constitution should be referred to alongside this handbook. 

The Council Owned Entity’s governing documents 

Each COE has a set of its own governing documents to meet the requirements of the law 

and those of its shareholders. Every COE is an independent entity free to operate within the 

scope of its governing documents. It is important that the distinction between a COE and 

the Council is clearly understood. The governing documents for each COE are held by the 

Shareholder Unit. 

Article 10 of the Council’s Constitution - Executive Arrangements (including the Executive 

Scheme of Delegation) 

Article 10 describes how decisions are made by the Council’s Executive. This includes the 

Companies Governance Executive Committee (CGEC) and sets out its terms of reference. 

The authority to make decisions may be delegated to Council Officers. 

Where any decision is a Key Decision, they can only be taken in accordance with the notice 

requirements outlined in Article 13. 

Article 19 of the Constitution – Council Companies 

This Article sets out the principles and governance that relates to COEs. It explicitly states 

that the Executive acts as the Shareholder (or its equivalent) in respect of all COEs and that 

decisions can be delegated to officers. Article 19 is freely available to anyone and is, along 

with the rest of the Constitution, published on the Council’s website. 

Commercial Strategy 

The Commercial Strategy is owned by the Commercial Director who is responsible for its 

production, updating and implementation. The Commercial Strategy sets the direction and 

aims of the council in respect of the entities in which the council has an interest. The 

strategy acts as a bridge between these entities and the broader strategic objectives of the 

council.  

 

Page 15



4 
 

Glossary 

Articles of Association Written rules about running the company 
agreed by the shareholders or guarantors, 
directors and (where there is one) the 
company secretary 

CIPFA The Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA) is a UK-based 
international accountancy membership and 
standard-setting body 

Commercial director NCC officer with responsibility for all 
procurement, contract management and 
effective oversight and shareholder inputs 
for council owned entities 

Commercial Strategy The Commercial Strategy is owned by the 
Commercial Director who is responsible for 
its production, updating and 
implementation. The Commercial Strategy 
sets the direction and aims of the council in 
respect of the entities in which the council 
has an interest. The strategy acts as a 
bridge between these entities and the 
broader strategic objectives of the council. 
 

Companies Act 2006 The Companies Act was introduced in 2006 
to do the following things: to simplify 
administration. To improve the rights of 
shareholders. To update and simplify 
corporate law 

Companies Governance Executive 
Committee (CGEC) 

To approve and oversee the Council's 
strategic objectives across the Nottingham 
City Council group of companies and to 
support the development of the Group, in 
line with the Council's regulations and 
ambitions. 

Company Chair The Chair’s primary role is to ensure that 
the board is effective in its task of setting 
and implementing the company’s direction 
and strategy. The Chair is appointed by the 
board and the position may be full-time or 
part-time 

Company directors Persons appointed to act as a director in 
accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 
They have a number of legal duties, set out 
in the Governance Roles section of this 
document 

Council appointed board members Board members (also known as directors if 
the COE is a company), that the council has 
the power to appoint. 

Page 16



5 
 

Council Owned Entity (COE) A company, or other entity, in which the 
council has an interest such as shares, the 
right to appoint a director or for which it is 
a member. 

Financial Reporting Council The Financial Reporting Council is an 
independent regulator in the UK and 
Ireland, responsible for regulating auditors, 
accountants and actuaries, and setting the 
UK's Corporate Governance and 
Stewardship Codes. It is due to be replaced 
by the Audit, Reporting and Governance 
Authority in 2023. 

Lawyers in Local Government  Lawyers in Local Government is the 
representational body for all lawyers and 
governance officers working in local 
authorities and similar organisations 

Memorandum of association A legal statement signed by all initial 
shareholders or guarantors agreeing to 
form the company 

NCC Constitution The Constitution is the fundamental 
document that describes how the Council 
works. In particular it sets out the decision 
making process by the Executive and 
oversight of the Executive’s decisions by 
the Overview & Scrutiny and Audit 
committees 

Reserved matters A shareholders’ agreement and / or Articles 
of Association will often set out things 
which the company should not do without 
first getting the approval shareholders. 
These are known as reserved matters 

Shareholder agreement An agreement entered into between all or 
some of the shareholders in a company. It 
regulates the relationship between the 
shareholders, the management of the 
company, ownership of the shares and the 
protection of the shareholders. They also 
govern the way in which the company is 
run 

Shareholder rep A council officer whose purpose is to 
represent and protect the council's 
interests and to act as a conduit between 
the council and the COE 

Shareholder Unit Comprises the Head of Commercial 
Strategy, shareholder reps, finance officer, 
commercial / compliance officer and legal 
officer 

 

Page 17



6 
 

  

Page 18



7 
 

Operating relationship between Nottingham City Council and Council Owned Entities 

(COEs) 

The following diagram show each entity – the Council and a COE – in its own column with 

their respective governance, decision making & execution, strategy & planning, oversight 

and scrutiny arrangements in relation to COEs.

.  

Page 19



8 
 

Governance Documents 

Articles of Association 

These are the written rules that determine how the COE is run and is agreed by the 

shareholders or guarantors, directors and (where there is one) the company secretary. 

NCC will create a standard set of minimum requirements for the Articles of Association for 

any entity in which it has an interest. 

Shareholder Agreement  

Although the articles of association and a shareholders’ agreement are very similar in 

nature, and their contents will quite often overlap, the shareholders’ agreement is a 

confidential document, whereas the articles of association are open for the public to view at 

Company House. This may affect the decision about what is included in the articles of 

association and what should be kept private in the shareholders’ agreement. 

Typically, a shareholder agreement will cover the following: 

 The nature of the company and its purpose 

 The process for appointing and removing directors 

 How decisions about the company will be made 

 How disputes will be resolved 

 The shareholders’ rights to information 

 How shares will be distributed and sold 

 Any restraint provisions on shareholders 

Reserved matters  

Found in the Shareholder Agreement and / or the Articles of Association, reserved matters 

are those things the COE can only do with the agreement of the shareholder(s). 

Typically, these include the following: 

 Commencement of any proceeding for the voluntary dissolution, winding up or 

bankruptcy of the Company. 

 Any non-pro rata reduction to the share capital of the Company, except as required by 

law. 

 Approval of and any amendment to the articles of incorporation or by-laws of the 

Company, which amendment would change (A) the name of the Company, (B) the 

jurisdiction of incorporation of the Company, (C) the purpose or purposes for which the 

Company is organized, (D) the size of the Board of Directors or (E) the shareholder 

approval requirements for Shareholder Reserved Matters. 

 Any appointment to the Board of Directors 

 Removal of directors  

 Any merger, amalgamation or consolidation of the Company with any other entity or 

the spinoff of a substantial portion of the business of the Company. 

Page 20



9 
 

 The creation of any subsidiary entity. 

 The sale, conveyance, transfer or other disposal of all or substantially all of the assets of 

the Company, whether in a single transaction or a series of related transactions. 

 Any change in the principal line of business of the Company. 

 Entering into any mortgage, lease or other long term financial commitment. 

 The use by the company of any assets as security against any financing instrument 

 

  

Page 21



10 
 

Governance roles 

Company Directors 

Major duties of a company director  

(From Dr Roger Barker, head of Governance, IOD) 

The company’s constitution 

The first of these duties is that a director must act within their powers under the company’s 

constitution. The most important part of the company’s constitution is the articles of 

association. These are an important set of rules for your company and for your board. 

Promoting the success of the company 

The second major duty of a company director is to promote the success of the company. 

The duty states a director must act in a way that they consider, in good faith, would be most 

likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members (shareholders) 

as a whole.  

When making decisions, directors must also consider the likely consequences for various 

stakeholders, including employees, suppliers, customers and communities. They should also 

consider the impact on the environment, the reputation of the company, company success 

in the longer term and all of the shareholders (including minority shareholders).  

Board decisions can only be justified by the best interests of the company, not on the basis 

of what works best for anyone else, such as particular executives, shareholders or other 

business entities. But directors should be broad minded in the way that they evaluate those 

interests – paying regard to other stakeholders rather than adopting a narrow financial 

perspective. 

Independent judgement 

The third major duty requires directors to exercise independent judgement. Directors are 

meant to develop their own informed view on the company’s activities. 

Directors should not be delegates who simply implement the commands of other parties 

(such as major shareholders). Nor should they avoid their responsibility to make 

independent decisions by relying on the knowledge or judgement of other directors or 

experts. 

A director needs to form their own view, and this may require some effort – especially if 

they are not already familiar with key aspects of the company’s activities. 

Exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence 

The third major duty requires directors to exercise independent judgement. Directors are meant to 

develop their own informed view on the company’s activities. 

Directors should not be delegates who simply implement the commands of other parties 

(such as major shareholders). Nor should they avoid their responsibility to make 

independent decisions by relying on the knowledge or judgement of other directors or 

experts. 

Page 22



11 
 

A director needs to form their own view, and this may require some effort – especially if 

they are not already familiar with key aspects of the company’s activities. 

In the past, directors could be appointed purely for their name or reputation, without the 

expectation that they would actually do any work as a board member. Those days are now 

over due to the duty for directors to exercise reasonable skill, care and diligence in their 

role. 

The benchmark is that of a reasonably diligent person with the general knowledge, skill and 

experience that could reasonably be expected from a person carrying out the director’s 

functions. Also, directors with specific professional training or skills (such as a lawyer or 

accountant) are held to a higher standard in related issues than less qualified colleagues. 

Conflicts of interest and personal benefits 

The remaining three legal duties relate to the need for directors to avoid or manage 

conflicts of interest which may affect their objectivity. 

If situations arise which impose multiple claims on a director’s attention or loyalty, it is 

essential that they disclose them to fellow board members. It will then be up to the other 

non-conflicted board members (or the shareholders, in some cases) to decide how to 

manage or approve the conflict and maintain the integrity of the board’s decision-making 

process. 

Examples of conflicts of interest include situations where the director has relationships of a 

business or personal nature with persons or entities that are affected by the company’s 

activities. It could also relate to situations where the director may be considering taking 

advantage, on a personal basis, of property, information or opportunity which belongs to 

the company. 

Gifts or benefits from third parties are also a potential threat to a director’s objectivity. 

Most importantly, directors have a statutory duty to disclose any direct or indirect interest 

in proposed or existing transactions or arrangements with the company. 

Keeping a record 

How can a director prove they’ve fulfilled these legal duties? One of the important purposes 

of the minutes of board meetings is to provide a record of the board’s decision-making 

process. 

By law, these minutes must be kept for 10 years. Years from now, it may be difficult for you 

to remember if you fulfilled your directors’ duties in respect of some key decision. The 

minutes can provide vital evidence that you did – something that you may well have cause 

to be grateful for. 

  

Page 23



12 
 

Council appointed board members 

Power to appoint and remove board members 

The public law related power to appoint and remove board members is found in Article 19 

of the Council’s Constitution. The Executive Board will normally exercise this power with 

arrangements in place for any in year changes to appointments that may be required. 

The company law related power for the council, as shareholder, to appoint and remove 

board members will be found in the relevant COE’s articles and shareholder agreement. 

Competency of board members 

It is essential that existing and prospective board members are demonstrably competent, 

and have sufficient knowledge, to undertake the role. 

To that end, board members (current and prospective) will be required to undertake 

training and assessment to a standard comparable to that of the Institute of Directors 

Director Competency Framework.  

The Shareholder Unit will carry out the assessments of each board member and prospective 

board member. The assessment will be carried out prior to appointment and whenever 

board members change roles between COEs. 

Creating a pipeline of potential board members 

The appointment of NCC personnel as board members on the Council’s COE’s ensures that a 

public sector perspective and NCC’s strategic aims. In addition, whilst their prime duty is to 

the success of the company, NCC personnel appointed to boards will be well placed to 

anticipate the Council’s position on a variety of matters and to ensure NCC’s values and 

ethics are represented at board level. Personnel within NCC to be considered for board 

member roles in any COE, will be selected according to the Council’s prevailing policies. 

Nevertheless, it is important that prospective board members are able to demonstrate the 

depth of experience, intellectual ability and personal resilience that their future role will 

likely require of them. 

Once selected, prospective board members should undertake the training described above 

before joining the COE board. 

Conflicts of interest 

Conflicts of interest must be managed in accordance with the conflicts of interest section in 

this document. 

Board membership planning 

A cohort of prospective board members, fully trained, will be available to replace existing 

board members in COEs as and when required. The exact number in this cohort is a matter 

for the Commercial Director to determine, taking into account relevant factors. 

 

 

Page 24



13 
 

Competency evaluation of board members 

COEs are required to carry out self-evaluation each year with external evaluation every third 

year. This must be broadly in line with FRC guidance. A key factor of this process is the 

evaluation of individual directors (item 5 in the checklist).  

In the event that a council appointed board member is found to be ineffective, they will be 

required to undertake any training that is agreed between the Commercial Director and the 

Chair of the COE board that is likely to improve their performance. In the event that the 

ineffectiveness is so pronounced that any training would be unlikely to improve matters, or 

that the training fails in its objectives, the board member shall be replaced. If, however, the 

individual’s effectiveness improves following training, no further action will be required. 

Term of appointment to a COE board 

It is up to the Council, as shareholder, to determine how long a council appointed board 

member should remain in place. As a minimum, the FRC guidance found in Appendix One 

should be followed. At present, this means the Chair should serve for no more than nine 

years, and NEDs for no more than two, three year terms.  

 

Commercial Director  

The Commercial Director is the NCC officer with responsibility for all procurement, contract 

management and oversight and shareholder inputs for council owned entities. The 

Commercial Director reports to the Corporate Director of Finance. 

They are responsible for creating the Commercial Strategy, keeping it updated, and for its 
implementation. 

The Commercial Director’s role description is available from the Shareholder Unit. 

Shareholder Representatives 

For each COE, the council will appoint a shareholder representative. Each shareholder 

representative will have sufficient experience, skills and seniority to be able to discharge 

their duties effectively.  

The purpose of the shareholder representatives is to protect the council's interests and to 

act as a conduit between the council and the COE. 

The standards of behaviour required include: 

 To act with honesty and integrity in the delivery of their duties. 

 To actively communicate and collaborate with all required within the wider 

governance framework. 

 To build and maintain effective and transparent relationships with all parties. 

 To take personal accountability for own actions and decisions. 

 To take personal responsibility for own continuous improvement working collectively 

with other shareholder representatives where appropriate. 

 To actively work to promote and improve good working relationships between the 

Council and its companies. 

Page 25



14 
 

 To take appropriate action to avoid conflicts of interest arising especially in relation 

to the shareholder role and any client roles. 

 

The full role profile is here: 

 

Enc. 2 for The Role 

of the Shareholder Representative.pdf
 

 

All current and prospective shareholder representatives will undertake training to the same 

standard and scope of the Institute of Directors Director Competency Framework.  

 

To support the shareholder representatives, a user group will be created to allow the free 

exchange of ideas, challenges and experiences and to support prospective shareholder 

representatives as they undertake their training and in handovers from one representative 

to another. The user group will be organised by the Shareholder unit. 

 

Creating a pipeline of shareholder representatives 

 

The SU will create and maintain a pipeline of prospective shareholder representatives from 

officers employed by NCC. The council may choose to offer a small financial incentive to 

interested parties to take on these additional duties. Selection and appointment of officers 

as prospective shareholder reps will follow prevailing NCC policies. 

 

Shareholder Unit  

The Shareholder Unit (SU) comprises the Shareholder Reps and the SU officers for 

Commercial, Financial and Governance. The team reports into the Commercial Director. 

1. Purpose 

The main function of the Shareholder unit is to embed the LLG code of practice into NCC 

ways of working by: 

a. Acting as the custodian of the Shareholder’s interests in the COEs 

b. Establishing with the CGEC the outcomes NCC requires of its group companies, 

frequently testing the group entities against these 

c. Building and maintaining an effective and transparent relationship between the 

Shareholder and COEs 

d. Ensuring each COE has the right level of challenge and support from the Shareholder 

e. Establishing and maintaining a group environment and culture for COEs 

f. Preparing, gaining approval and implementing a commercial strategy for the COEs 

within the group 

 

2. Approach 

a. Keeping up to date with best practice and legislative changes 

Page 26



15 
 

b. Establishes impartial, factual decision making, based on reliable information and 

justifiable commercial criteria 

c. Operate efficient and practical processes, avoiding duplication with existing council 

governance 

d. Governance is collectively understood between NCC and the COEs, and is applied 

accordingly 

e. Shareholder compliance points are addressed (and evidenced) 

f. A collaborative and pragmatic approach is demonstrated 

g. Key events are planned for and emergent issues are managed on a priority basis 

h. Awareness between group entities of the collective challenge and opportunities is 

evident 

i. Current year budget and MTFP are regularly monitored and informed 

Page 27



16 
 

Major governance processes and policies 

Risk management policy  

The Council Owned Entities (COEs) are responsible for their own arrangements in respect of 

risk management. NCC require these arrangements to be broadly in line with the FRC’s 

Guidance on Risk Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and Business 

Reporting. This requirement should be set out in the COEs Articles of Association and/or 

Shareholder Agreement as appropriate. 

The Shareholder Unit (SU) is responsible for periodically seeking assurance that COEs are 

complying with this requirement. To assist SU staff, the following checklist covers the 

significant elements of the FRC guidance. Detailed evidence of compliance (or otherwise) 

will be produced in a report and sent in draft to the COE for their comments or corrections. 

A final version will be distributed under the Commercial Director’s guidance. 

Checklist 

Item Description Evidence 

1 There is a clear statement, endorsed by the Board, setting out 
the COEs willingness to take on risk commensurate with its risk 
appetite. 
 

 

2 The risk statement is reviewed at least annually and when there 
is any significant business change or change to the risk 
environment 
 

 

3 There is a clear statement describing the nature and extent of 
the risks facing, or being taken by, the company which it regards 
as desirable or acceptable for the company to bear 
 

 

4 The Board is provided with sufficient information to allow it to 
assess the effectiveness with which risk is being managed or 
mitigated 
 

 

5 Risk management and internal controls are integrated with 
considerations of strategy and business model, and with business 
planning processes 
 

 

6 Risk management is demonstrably incorporated into the COE’s 
day to day management and governance processes. 
 

 

7 The Board can demonstrate that the COE’s management systems 
offer adequate assurance that risk is being effectively managed. 
 

 

 

  

Page 28



17 
 

Conflicts of interest policy 

Introduction 

The policy adopted by the Council is based on the Institute of Directors guidance. 

The appointment of NCC councillors or officers as board members on the Council’s COE’s 

ensures that a public sector perspective and NCC’s values and ethics are represented at 

board level.  

A conflict of interest arises when an individual has competing interests or loyalties, financial 

or otherwise, where serving one interest may mean working against the other. Company 

law requires directors to disclose such interests (Institute of Directors). 

Council officers or Councillors (who do not hold company directorships) may also be at risk 

of conflicts of interests where they work in a decision making capacity around the Council’s 

ownership of companies. This policy is intended to augment the current officer and 

Councillor Codes of Conduct (Articles 16 and 15 of the Council’s Constitution).  

Directors Duties – (Section 175 Companies Act 2006) 

Directors must avoid circumstances in which ‘they have, or can have, a direct or indirect 

interest that conflicts with the interest of the company, or that may possibly conflict with 

those interests’. 

This applies to both actual and potential conflicts and both direct and indirect interests. This 

duty is absolute. There is, however, no breach of duty if the circumstances:  

•  Cannot ‘reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict’. In practice this means 

that, if the director’s potential interest is so indirect or remote that no reasonable 

person would see a problem, it can be ignored, and 

•  the Director’s involvement has been authorised by the rest of the board. 

If neither exception applies, the conflict must be avoided 

In practice, the duty means that a director cannot, without the company’s consent: 

•  compete with the company for a commercial opportunity; or  

•  use, for their own purpose, information belonging to the company; make a gain from 

their role. These restrictions apply even if the company has no wish to pursue the 

opportunity or is unable to benefit from the information or the gain. 

The GC 100 (a group of general counsels and company secretaries working in FTSE 100 

companies) give the following examples of situations which may constitute conflict 

situations for a director:  

•  being a director of a competitor  

•  being a potential customer of or supplier to the company  

•  owning property adjacent to the company’s property, the value of which could be 

affected by the activities of the company  

Page 29



18 
 

•  having an advisory relationship (for example financial or legal) with the company or a 

competitor  

•  being a director of the company’s pension trustee company  

•  wanting to take up an opportunity that has been offered to, but declined by, the 

company  

•  being in a situation where they can make a profit as a result of their directorship whether 

or not they disclose this to the company; and  

•  in each of the above situations, being a director of another company and that other 

company having the relevant relationship with the relevant company or being in the 

situation described above. 

The duty to avoid conflicts continues to apply to a former director as regards the 

exploitation of any property, information or opportunity which they became aware of at a 

time when they were a director.  

Conflicts of interest may be waived by a company but, as a matter of public law, never in the 

decision making of the Council. The Council Member / company director will always have a 

conflict of interest when it comes to their role as a councillor. This conflict must be resolved 

and resolved in the favour of the company. A Member (or officer) as director, therefore, 

must not be a party to making a decision of the Council affecting the company, but may 

provide evidence or advice to the Council on the company’s behalf when invited to do so. 

Where a conflict of interest arises, Councillors or officers must, in accordance with the 

relevant code of conduct, remove themselves from the meeting/ decision making process 

and not take any further part. 

The Councillor’s Code of Conduct applies to a Member’s activity as a director, except where 

it directly conflicts with the interests of the company. Where this occurs, the potential 

conflict must be notified to the company secretary and to the Council’s monitoring officer. 

The Council Policy for Councillors and employees 

Directorships may create additional potential conflicts of interests for councillors or officers. 

The way in which these are handled within the council are the same as other conflicts of 

interest. 

The existing codes of conduct require that both officers and members to register and 

declare interests. In the case of Councillors, Section 29 of the Localism Act requires the 

monitoring officer to maintain a register of interests of members of the authority. Interests 

must be registered within 28 days of becoming a member or being re-elected. Any changes 

to a Councillor’s interests while they are in office must be registered within 28 days of the 

change having taken place. Details of how this is done are set out in the Councillor Code of 

Conduct. 

Employees must avoid situations where their conduct could create an impression of a 

conflict of interest in the minds of the public. Additional employments outside of council 

employment are not unreasonably precluded, however the guidance sets out the situations 

Page 30



19 
 

in which the written consent of the council is required. In any event, employees must avoid 

situations where work and personal interests conflict or may appear to conflict. 

Employees must register personal interests (financial and non-financial) when they could be 

reasonably deemed to potentially conflict with any work undertaken by employees in the 

course of their duties. Notices of interests in contracts (in place or proposed) in which the 

council is involved must be notified in writing to the monitoring Officer. 

Situational conflicts which will not be permitted 

The Council recognises the need for an absolute separation of roles and duties to avoid 

conflicts which are deemed to be unmanageable. These include but may not be limited to: 

 Executive Councillors holding a portfolio who also serve as a director of a company 

under the control of the same portfolio 

 Councillors taking shareholder decision in respect of a company of which they are 

also a director, for example members of CGEC. 

 Officers who serve as a director of the contracting company for which they are also 

client. That is to say, having any responsibility or accountability for the performance 

of services by the COE. 

 Officers who serve as director for a company for which they undertake the 

Shareholder Representative role for the Council.  

 Conflicts prohibited by the council constitution (directorships and service on 

governance and audit committees)    

 

Shareholder Unit controls 

The directorships held by officers and Councillors are not static, equally portfolio 

responsibilities for Executive Councillors, appointments to Audit and Overview & 

Scrutiny committees, and duties of officers change periodically. Therefore, in addition to 

the maintenance of registers of interests outlined in the Codes of Conduct, the 

Shareholder Unit will review the potential for conflicts upon all changes in directorships 

and portfolio responsibility / officer duties. 

 Monitoring of all appointments of Councillors and officers to the register of outside 

bodies and review for potential conflicts of interest (annually and on changes to 

councillor responsibilities and officer organisational structure). 

 Maintaining a register of present, impending and potential future conflicts of interest 

for each council appointed director with a clear record of the avoidance, 

management and mitigation measures adopted. 

 Checking against the registered declared interests annually and upon changes to the 

register 

 Questionnaires to all proposed new council appointed company directors to assist 

with the identification of any conflict situation. This will include a check of connected 

persons’ interests, which are defined in the legislation but should also cover any 

Page 31



20 
 

corporate connections or wider connections that the council may wish to know 

about. This is to ensure that the responsibilities under s175 of the CA 2006 can be 

demonstrated by the proposed director. 

 Escalation of potential conflicts to the Companies Governance Executive Committee, 

with recommendations for the removal of the conflict. 

Company Board controls 

The council must be able to assure that the boards of the companies operate an 

appropriate conflict of interest policy and controls. The COEs should follow guidance 

issued by the FRC and IOD.  

The broader work on companies’ governance will ensure the Chair of each subsidiary 

and joint venture is able to demonstrate upon enquiry that appropriate measures and 

process are in place. Controls the council require as a minimum include: - 

•  Company secretary (or appointed representative) to supply each new director with a 

briefing note explaining the legal and company protocols in relation to conflicts and the 

requirement for the prior authorisation of conflict situations.  

•  Questionnaire to be sent to all new directors to assist with the identification of any 

conflict situation. Companies will need to decide if they are going to require directors to 

check all their connected persons’ interests, which are defined in the legislation but 

should also cover any corporate connections or wider connections that the company 

may wish to know about.  

•  Putting in place a process for authorising conflicts, including the basis on which 

authorisation is to be granted and the terms/conditions attached – for example, 

whether a director should be excluded from the board meeting, whether board papers 

should be withheld, whether the director would be required to step down from his 

directorship on a temporary basis. Also consider confidentiality issues, including 

whether, if a company is to release a director from disclosing confidential information 

relating to a third party, it will want to make sure that the director has an equivalent 

release from the third party in respect of confidential information relating to the 

company.  

•  Consider appointing a board committee to review conflict authorisations (possibly the 

nomination committee). 

•  Advise directors that they may need to take independent legal advice if a direct conflict 

situation arises.  

•  Prepare board papers setting out details of each director’s conflict situation, for the 

board then to consider and authorise, if appropriate.  

•  If the board wishes to pass a written resolution to authorise conflicts, the articles of 

association must be checked to see if a written resolution can be passed without all the 

directors, as interested directors cannot be counted.  

•  Include in the induction process for new directors a briefing on the duties and a 

questionnaire on their conflict situations.  

Page 32



21 
 

•  Recording of authorisations. Company secretaries to maintain a register of 

authorisations which can set out the terms and conditions rather than simply rely on 

board minutes.  

  

Page 33



22 
 

Major Governance Processes 

Council Owned Entities – high level activities cycle 

This diagram sets out the annual activities cycle as well as those activities that will be carried 

out only once every three years. In the case of a Strategic review, this may also be asked for 

by the Council when any significant change to a COE is requested, for example entering a 

new business area. 

More detailed consideration of these activities is found later in this handbook. 

 Year one    Year two    Year three 

 

 

 

 

 

  

- Annual Business Plan 
- Internal Board 

Effectiveness Review 

- Internal Shareholder 

Unit Effectiveness 

Review 

- Annual Business Plan 
- Internal Board 

Effectiveness Review 

- Internal Shareholder 

Unit Effectiveness 

Review 

- Strategic review based 

on CIPFA guidance 

- Annual Business Plan 
- External Board 

Effectiveness Review 

- External Shareholder 

Unit Effectiveness 

Review 

Page 34



23 
 

Business Planning Process 

The diagram sets out the business planning process. It is essential that each step of the 

process is given sufficient time for inputs and ideas to be considered. As a minimum, the 

COE should be approached with the Council’s requirements three months before the 

business plan needs to be signed off. The COE will explain how NCC’s client 

department’s views and needs are to be addressed.   

 

Business Planning Process 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Council owned entity (COE) creates first draft of the BP and 

shares this with the SU. 

SU coordinates review and comments across finance, legal 

and commercial colleagues.  

Commercial Director meets with CEO, S. 151 Officer and 

Monitoring to finalise officer sign off. 

BP taken to Companies Governance Executive Committee 

(CGEC) for consideration and review 

Consulting with Overview & Scrutiny Committee (optional) 

CGEC approves BP 

Overview & Scrutiny call in decision to approve 

B
u

sin
ess P

lan
 re-d

rafted
 as req

u
ired

 b
y 

C
O

E 

CGEC approves BP 

At least three months before sign off is required, the 

Shareholder Unit (SU) provides NCC’s requirements for the 

business plan (BP) and puts in the Forward Plan for the CGEC 

a decision for approval. 

Page 35



24 
 

The reporting framework 

COEs will be required to provide regular reports to the Shareholder. Each Shareholder Rep, 

supported by the SU, will determine the minimum reporting requirements for each COE. 

This requirement will be set out in the Articles of Association and / or the Shareholder 

Agreement as appropriate. 

Monthly: 

-  Performance against business plan/ budget 

-  Financial reporting current view of outturn turnover, profit before tax, expected year 

end cash balance 

-  Risk management update 

-  Cash flow forecast for companies with high liquidity risk 

 -  Any shareholder consent matters 

Quarterly 

As monthly plus 

-  Conflicts of interest register 

-  Progress against internal audit and assurance work plans 

-  Latest cash-flow forecast 

Every six months 

As quarterly plus 

- Revised and updated risk register 

Annually 

As six-monthly plus 

- Results of the board self-assessment / third party assessment 

- Associated improvement plans 

- Business plan 
  

Page 36



25 
 

Strategic Review 

In August 2021 CIPFA produced a document for NCC, Company Oversight: Strategic 

Principles and Code of Practice. The code of practice sets out the key principles that should 

be considered each time that a strategic decision is required for one of the COEs and 

routinely, at a frequency to be determined by the Commercial Director, to ensure the COE 

remains aligned to the Council’s best interests. The guidance has been approved by the 

s.151 Officer and should be applied with the principle of “comply or explain”. The document 

may be found in Appendix One. 

The principle as set out in the code are as follows: 

 

 

Responsibility for oversight of each principle is also set out in the Code: 

 

Page 37



26 
 

j. Board Effectiveness Evaluation 

The Council Owned Entities (COEs) are responsible for their own arrangements in 

respect of Board Evaluation. NCC require these arrangements to be broadly in line with 

the FRC’s Guidance on Board Effectiveness. This requirement should be set out in the 

COEs Articles of Association and/or Shareholder Agreement as appropriate. 

The Shareholder Unit (SU) is responsible for periodically seeking assurance that COEs are 

complying with this requirement annually with an external review every third year. To 

assist SU staff, the following checklist covers the significant elements of the FRC 

guidance. Detailed evidence of compliance (or otherwise) will be produced in a report 

and sent in draft to the COE for their comments or corrections. A final version will be 

distributed under the Commercial Director’s guidance. 

Whether facilitated externally or internally, evaluations should be rigorous. They should 

explore how effective the board is as a unit, as well as the quality of the contributions 

made by individual directors. Some areas which may be considered, although they are 

neither prescriptive nor exhaustive, include the following: - 

Item Description Compliance? 

1 Does the COE Board have the mix of skills, experience and 
knowledge in the context of developing and delivering the 
strategy, the challenges and opportunities, and the principal 
risks facing the COE? 

 

2 Are the purpose, direction and values of the company clearly 
communicated and does the Board provide effective leadership 
in these areas? 

 

3 Are there succession and development plans in place?  

4 Does the board work together as a cohesive unit?  

 Do key board relationships support the overall effectiveness of 
the Board? Particularly chair/chief executive, chair/ 
senior independent director, chair/company secretary and  
executive/non-executive directors  

 

5 How effective are individual directors?  

6 How effective are Board committees, and how they are 
connected with the main Board? 

 

7 Is the quality of information provided on the company and  
its performance sufficient to meet Shareholder requirements? 
(see Standard Reporting document) 

 

8 Do the quality and timing of papers and presentations to the 
board support board effectiveness? 

 

9 Is the quality of discussions around individual proposals 
sufficient and is enough time allowed for proposals to be 
properly considered? 

 

10 Does the company secretary/secretariat support the Board 
effectively? 

 

11 Is there demonstrable clarity of the decision-making processes 
and authorities, looking back on key decisions made over the 
year? 

 

Page 38



27 
 

12 Are processes for identifying, reviewing and managing risks (see 
Risk Management document) in place and functioning well? 

 

13 Can the board demonstrate that it communicates with, and 
listens and responds to, shareholders and other key 
stakeholders? 

 

 

  

Page 39



28 
 

k. Shareholder Unit Effectiveness Review 

The Commercial Director is responsible for ensuring the Shareholder unit is operating 

effectively. Annually, an internal review will be conducted and every third year an 

independent review will be carried out by the Council’s audit team. 

The effectiveness of the SU will be assessed with reference to the Terms Of Reference (see 

document I, Shareholder Unit TOR), the SU business plan and feedback sought from the 

COEs, Shareholder Reps and CGEC. 

In addition, the LLG Code of Practice Checklist should be used: 

Item Description Lead Role Supporting 
activities 

Evidence of 
effectiveness 
of SU 

1 Are COEs monitored 
against local authority 
trading powers? 

Activity 
managed by 
Shareholder 
Rep 

Monitoring at 
scheduled 
meetings with 
company 

 

2 Are COEs monitored 
against local authority 
financial regulations 
(e.g. borrowing)? 

Activity 
managed by 
Shareholder 
Rep 

Monitoring at 
scheduled 
meetings with 
company 

 

3 Are Controlled 
companies applying 
standards expected of 
the local authority? 

Activity 
managed by 
Shareholder 
Rep 

Monitoring at 
scheduled 
meetings with 
company 

 

4 Is any Management/ 
Shareholder agreement 
understood and applied 
correctly? 

Activity 
managed by 
Shareholder 
Rep 

Monitoring at 
scheduled 
meetings with 
company 

 

5 Have the COEs adopted 
a comply or explain 
approach to UK 
Corporate Governance 
Code? 

Activity 
managed by 
Shareholder 
Rep 

Monitoring at 
scheduled 
meetings with 
company 

 

6 Has an assessment of 
adequacy of controls 
over the company been 
undertaken and 
management agreement 
amended, if required? 

NCC Legal Activity managed 
by Shareholder 
Rep 

 

7 Are Overview and 
Scrutiny, and Audit 
committee informed 
and engaged with the 
SU? 

Activity 
managed by 
NCC companies 
finance lead 

Scheduled plan of 
work through sub-
group to audit 
committee 

 

8 Is induction/ training 
and support to 
Shareholder 

Activity 
managed by 

Standard 
induction and 
training checklist 

 

Page 40



29 
 

Representatives 
provided? 

NCC companies 
finance lead 

– monitored by 
NCC finance & 
legal. Cohort 
training on a 
scheduled basis 

9 Is a Comprehensive 
Statement (The Local 
Government (Best Value 
Authorities) (Power to 
Trade) (England) Order 
2009) in place and 
monitored against 
business plans? 

Activity 
managed by 
NCC companies 
finance lead 

Process facilitated 
by Shareholder 
Representative 

 

10 Are any financial 
agreements between 
NCC and COEs in place 
and up to date? 

Activity 
managed by 
NCC companies 
finance lead 

Process facilitated 
by Shareholder 
Representative 

 

11 Is the Company business 
plan scrutinised annually 
and taken to CGEC for 
approval, as per the 
prescribed process? 

Activity 
managed by 
NCC companies 
finance lead 

Process facilitated 
by Shareholder 
Representative 

 

12 Where expedient, is a 
common approach 
applied across the group 
– policies eg social 
value, audit, financial 
procedures and health 
& safety 

Activity 
managed by 
Shareholder 
Rep 

Supported by NCC 
finance, legal, HR, 
Audit and risk 

 

13 Any common approach 
is reviewed and kept up 
to date 

Activity 
managed by 
NCC companies 
finance lead 

Supported by NCC 
finance, legal, HR, 
Audit and risk 

 

14 Are conflicts of interest 
identified and managed 

Activity 
managed by 
Shareholder 
Rep 

Supported by NCC 
finance, legal, HR, 
Audit and risk 

 

15 Do NCC appointed 
company chairs have a 
casting vote? 

Activity 
monitored by 
Shareholder 
Rep 

Supported by NCC 
finance, legal, HR, 
Audit and risk 

 

16 Is a remuneration 
committee in place and 
operated for each COE? 

Activity 
monitored by 
Shareholder 
Rep 

Monitoring at 
scheduled 
meetings with 
company 

 

17 Is an audit committee in 
place and operated for 
each COE? 

Activity 
monitored by 
Shareholder 
Rep 

Monitoring at 
scheduled 
meetings with 
company 

 

Page 41



30 
 

18 Are officer and member 
indemnities in place – 
care they checked 
annually or on change of 
membership? 

Activity 
managed by 
Shareholder 
Rep 

Supported by NCC 
finance, legal, HR, 
Audit and risk 

 

19 Are non-executive 
memberships reviewed, 
along with a check on 
individuals’ skills and 
capability? 

Activity 
managed by 
Shareholder 
Rep 

Annual review: 
Supported by NCC 
finance, legal, HR, 
Audit and risk 

 

20 Are SU terms of 
reference reviewed? 

Activity 
managed by 
NCC companies 
finance lead 

Operation of the 
monthly CGEC 
reporting process 
is regularly tested 
to ensure 
compliance 
against the code 
of practice 

 

  

  

Page 42



31 
 

Appendix One – guidance documents 

CIPFA Company Oversight: Strategic Principles and Code of Practice 

NCC company 

oversight - strat principals and code of practice v3.docx
 

Lawyers in Local Government: The Governance of Council Interests in Companies – Code of Practice 

Council_Interests_i

n_Companies_Code_of_Governance.docx
 

Financial reporting Council: The UK Corporate Governance Code, July 2018 

2018-UK-Corporate-

Governance-Code-FINAL.pdf
 

Financial reporting Council: Guidance on Board Effectiveness, July 2018 

2018-Guidance-on-

Board-Effectiveness-FINAL.PDF
 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Creating homes and places where people want to live

Stephen Feast
NCH Director of Transition

Companies Governance 
Executive Sub-Committee

20 September 2022

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 6



Creating homes and places where people want to live

Group Structure Chart

ALMO BOARD

GROUP BOARD

NCH Enterprises 
Ltd

NCH Registered 
Provider

Audit, Risk & 
Compliance 
Committee

Governance & 
Selection 

Committee

Carbon 
Reduction 

Advisory ForumP
age 46



Creating homes and places where people want to live

Services include:
i. Homelink / lettings
ii. Tenancy and Estate Management
iii. Repairs and Maintenance
iv. Asset Management
v. Independent Living
vi. Assistive technology
vii. Rents and tenancy sustainment 
viii. Leaseholder services 

P
age 47



Nottingham’s 
Council 
housing 
across the City 

25,359 council tenancies 
1,359 leasehold properties

P
age 48



Creating homes and places where people want to live

Operating Environment

i. Councils decision to in-source the housing service
ii. Requirements of IAB
iii. Cost of Living Crisis
iv. Covid impact / The new normal
v. Managing and maintaining the existing stock

a) building safety
b) carbon neutral
c) support for vulnerable tenants
d) white paper / regulation

vi. Demand for council / affordable housing

P
age 49



Creating homes and places where people want to live

Tenant Satisfaction

% Of tenant are satisfied with 2021/22
Rolling Average 

12 Months

Overall Satisfaction with Service 88% 88%
Value for Money for Rent 88% 88%
Value for Money of Service Charge 78% 79%
Easy to Deal With 85% 84%
Quality of their Home 84% 84%
Neighbourhood as a Place To Live 85% 85%
Repairs and Maintenance 80% 81%
Home Safe and Secure 91% 90%
Ground and Maintenance 71% 71%
Opportunities to Participate 93% 93%
NCH Listens To Tenants Views and Acts Upon Them 71% 71%

P
age 50



Creating homes and places where people want to live

Building Safety

Compliance Area
No. of 

Properties 
Affected

No. 
Complying

Percentage 
Compliance

Gas Safety Domestic 23,379 23,379 100.00%
Electrical Installation Condition Report 
(EICR) 25,110 24,939 99.32%

Fire Risk Assessments 268 268 100.00%
High Risk Actions (Overdue) 0 0 100.00%
Inspections of Communal Areas with 
Asbestos 252 252 100.00%

L8 Risk Assessments 97 96 98.97%
Passenger Lifts 55 55 100.00%
LOLER Inspections 55 54 98.18%

P
age 51



Creating homes and places where people want to live

Service Highlights

• Housing to Health scheme has rehoused 38 people since April with a further 
84 currently being supported

• 78 families have been permanently rehoused from our temporary 
accommodation service

• Delivered £214K of energy vouchers and £325K of shopping vouchers 
through the Household Support Fund

• Completed the 5 years Grander design scheme – upgrading communal areas 
in 59 Independent Living Schemes

P
age 52



Creating homes and places where people want to live

Key Service Improvement 
Projects
i. Reducing the number of empty homes available and the 

income lost due to empty homes
ii. Repairs – responsive, planned and programmed – to 

improve customer satisfaction and right first time 
completion

iii. Improving the availability and contactability of Housing 
Patch Managers

iv. Reviewing the criteria for accessing Independent 
properties

P
age 53



Creating homes and places where people want to live

Questions and 
Discussion?

P
age 54



Document is Restricted

Page 55

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 63

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 65

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 71

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 79

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 83

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 87

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 89

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 91

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Work Programme
	5 Companies Governance Handbook - Constitution Framework Document
	Proposed framework document Article 19 Companies Governance Handbook - no hyperlinks or para numbers

	6 Council owned company discussion - Nottingham City Homes
	Slide Number 1
	Group Structure Chart�
	Services include:
	Slide Number 4
	Operating Environment
	Tenant Satisfaction
	Building Safety
	Service Highlights
	Key Service Improvement �Projects
	Slide Number 10

	8 Council owned company discussion - Nottingham City Homes
	9 Council owned companies - financial update
	Financial Summary Position
	September 2022 - Exempt item appendix 1 NIC
	September 2022 Exempt item appendix 2 NCT
	September 2022 Exempt item appendix 4 NRB
	September 2022 - Exempt item appendix 5 BLUEPRINT
	September 2022 - Exempt item appendix 6 Futures
	September 2022 - Exempt item appendix 7 NCC companies map

	10 Company Review

